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START OF TAPE I, SIDE A

ChrisD’Arpa: ThisisChrisD’Arpa. I’m in Hyde Park, talking with Dena Epstein.
It’s Friday the 14™ of March, 2008. And Dena if you could tell me... Let’sjust start
with background. If you could say your name.

DenaEpstein: Dena Epstein.

CD: And tel mealittle bit about your self, where you were born, where you went to
school, and a little bit about your family.

DE: OK. | wasbornin Milwaukee, the second child of four. My father was born in
Milwaukee. My mother was born in Poland and came to this country in 1892.

CD: Ok.

DE: Shegrew up in Hull House neighborhood.
[background noise]

CD: You can keep talking.

DE: Ok. And her memoirs which were published by the University of Illinois Press are
the only known description of Hull House written by a woman from the neighborhood.
Which, at first, | could not believe but | realized soon that most of the ladies in that
neighborhood couldn’t read nor write. [laughter] So anyhow she became a protégé of
Jane Addams and won a scholarship to the University of Chicago after having quit school
in fifth grade because her father died and left her mother who had never worked outside
the home with six children. So my mother really led aremarkable life. And my father
diedin 1927. So we moved back to Chicago where her home had been in Chicago and
friends and family could help her find work.

CD: Um hmm.

DE: She had four children to support. | graduated from Hyde Park High School
commuting from Wilson Avenue on the North Side my last year because her job
transferred her all over the city. And she, | don’t know why | said she, | won a
scholarship to the University of Chicago through competitive examinations. Which they
don’t give anymore | am sure. (I guess heisleaving. Referring to a man who entered the
room.)
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CD: (Ok)

DE: | wasamusic mgor at the University of Chicago not because | had any particular
objective and view but because | was interested init. And| didn’t realize for severa
years that the music department at the University wasin itsinfancy and had not really
figured out what it was going to do. | found that out when | applied for a summer job and
the man at the employment office said to me, “What department are you in.” And when |
told him he said, “Don’t come to me for a job because | can’t place anyone from that

department.” Well, at that point, | decided | had to do something about music to get ajob.

[loud background noise]

CD: (just let me pausethis, let’s seewhat isgoing on. | am like Studs Terkel, Studs
Terkel talks about how he goesinto interviews, you know, and says, “Oh | don’t
have a clue how this machine works.”)

DE: [laughter]

CD: (Andthen hesayshisintervieweesare sort of sympathetic...)

DE: (I wasat his house last year because he and my brother were buddiesin the
twenties.)

CD: (Ohreally?)

DE: (And my brother was in town and Studs insisted he had to see him. So we went.)
CD: (Oh how sweet!)

DE: (Yeah, heisquite aguy.)

CD: (Heisquiteaguy.)

DE: (Ninety-five and just published another book [laughter])

CD: (Yeah, | wasjust, | actually saw him, last, must have been in thefall at a
conference. Sol am going to sit closer to you.)

DE: (Ok.)
CD: (Ok. And | am just goingto hold this.)
DE: (Ok.)

CD: (And | am goingto keep this. Areyou still running?)
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DE: [laughter] (I thought you were talking to me at first!)

CD: [laughter] (Areyou still running?)

DE: (Asweéll asl can.)

CD: (I think thisoneisstill going so that’s good.)

DE: (Congratulations.)

CD: (Theback up isgoing and it’sregistering well.)

DE: (Ok.)

CD: (Andthisoneis...)

DE: (Where should | start now?)

CD: (Becomfortable. I’ll adjust thisto wherever we need to haveit.)

DE: Weéll, anyhow, | knew a student at the graduate library school at the University of
Chicago and | went to him for advice and he recommended that | go to library school.
He said, “I think you’d very well suited for that kind of work.”

CD: Now what wasyour major? What was your undergraduate work in?

DE: At the University of Chicago you took survey courses. Thiswas during the thirties.
So actually the background | got was a very good background for library work because it
was very comprehensive. And the courses, the special courses| took were in the music
department. And they surveyed music libraries, not libraries but music culture
throughout the world which was just perfect for doing music library work. Although |
certainly didn’t realizeit at thetime. So even though the training | got at the University
of Chicago wasn’t intended to be background for library work it turned out to be very
well suited to that. So | got my bachelors at the University of Chicago in three years
because | didn’t have enough money to go more years. And then | took ayear and tried
to earn some money which was not very successful. But | did work for ayear.

CD: Doyou remember thejob you had?

DE: | wasacashier at adrug store. On Forty Seventh Street in the middle of the black
community. Very educationa for me [laughter].

CD: | bet.

Dena Epstein
3/14/2008

3of 33



DE: And then | went down to Urbanato find out why they had never answered my
application.

CD: Wadll, let me ask you this, why did you not, did you apply to the University of
Chicago’slibrary school?

DE: It wasagraduate library school. | had to have a Master’s degree to be admitted.
CD: Really?

DE: Yeah!

CD: | didn’t know that.

DE: Yeah. Sol wasn’t eligible. | knew that. And so | applied to the University of
Michigan library school and | was rejected. [laughter] And the University of Chicago
was kind of puzzled to why | was rejected and found out that the director of the school
was in Rome cataloging the Vatican Library and his secretary who was acting on
admissions and she didn’t approve of survey courses. So she regjected everybody.
[Laugher] (Hits mic, | am sorry.)

CD: That’sok.

DE: From the University of Chicago. It had nothing to do with me at all.

CD: Funny!

DE: Lifeinthethirties. Anyhow, when | went down to Urbana and pointed out | had a
BA degree not B Music degree the University of Illinois reconsidered and accepted me.

CD: Andwasit thelibrary school that you went to talk to or wasit the graduate
college?

DE: No it wasthe library school.

CD: Library school.

DE: Yeah.

CD: And wherewasthelibrary school at thetime?

DE: Inthelibrary. Inthe building which | guessis now obsolete.

CD: wadll...
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DE: They have additional buildings. | know there was some remodeling while | was
there. Well, | thought the coursesin the library school on the whole were very good. |
didn’t like the courses in administration because | wasn’t interested in that. But the other
courses were very good practiced things that prepared you for doing the actual job.

CD: Did you have any required cour ses?

DE: | think the whole course. ..

CD: Thewhole program was?

DE: Thewhole program was required.

CD: And did you, do you remember who your instructorswere?

DE: | remember some of them. Some of them. It’salong time. The woman who
directed my thesis who was really wonderful was Ann Morris Boyd who retired a couple
of years after | finished. | think on the whole the faculty wasfirst rate. | was taught to
catalog and do reference work. And do avariety of things which you need to know if
you working as alibrarian. And | worked in apublic library only once and that was
during World War I1. | worked in the Newark Public Library.

CD: TheNewark Public Library?

DE: In Newark, | commuted from Morristown, New Jersey. My husband was working
at the Picatinney Arsenal in Dover, New Jersey which had been built during the
American Revolution and was still functioning. [laugher] So | think it was good idea
that | came because he needed a lot of encouragement. | still remember coming home
from Newark one day and he was lying on the couch. He’d been standing next to a man
when abomb went off. And the man was killed, he was just taken to the hospital for the
rest of the day.

CD: Oye.

DE: But hewasnot in agood mood at all.

CD: Hehad no lingering effects from that?

DE: The hospital apparently got him just in time.

CD: Wow.

DE: Treated him immediately and he came home. He was not in good mood but he

wasn’t in pain. And that was the only time he was injured that | remember. Now there
may have been others| didn’t know about.
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CD: Sotell metheyear that you went down to Illinoisfor your graduate, wasit an
MS?

DE: MA inLS. Andthen | worked for aMaster’s the next year.

CD: Oh, ok. Sowhich year did you head down to Urbana?

DE: | graduated from Chicago in 1937 and | think | went down to Urbanain the fall of
1938 because | took ayear off to work in-between. And | shared housing with my friend
Miriam Kramer whose husband was in the Graduate Library School at Chicago.

CD: What was his name?

DE: Sidney Kramer.

CD: Sidney Kramer.

DE: Later he started a bookstore in Washington that was very well known...

CD: Kramer books?

DE: That’sright.

CD: Oh, ok.

DE: And his children are now scattered all over the country. | keep hearing from them
occasionally.

CD: How long wasthe program for the MA program at thelibrary school?

DE: Oneyear.

CD: Oneyear?

DE: Um hmm. Now, maybe, some people who had other specialties had longer
programs. | don’t know but | just took whatever they offered and | was there for one year
and in 1942 World War |1 broke out. And | had met my husband two years earlier. He
was in the Chemistry Department, | was in the Library Department.

CD: At lllinois?

DE: Atlllinois. He got hisBachelorsat New York University. And then came here for
adoctorate.

CD: And just for therecord, what was his name?
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DE: Hisname was Morton Epstein. And we got to be good friends. | didn’t have any
expectations but. ..

CD: How did you meet?
DE: | think it was at a graduate, what do you call it, guild meeting.
CD: Graduate guild meeting?

DE: They had an organization for graduate students at that time, | don’t know how long
it lasted, they even had their own radio program on the University station.

CD: Really? What wasit, a social organization?
DE: Social organization. It aso had political ideas of one kind or another.
CD: Of onekind or another or?

DE: | don’t remember any... He was much more activein it than | was. | still wasa
newcomer and he had been around awhile. But that’s where | met him and we became
friends and he started inviting me to the movies and taking me to dinner and that kind of
thing. So we became very good friends but | had not expected anything more than that.
But with the war breaking out and his being shipped off to an Arsenal that he never heard
of before he wanted some family support. [laughter] So he asked me to marry him on
very short notice because he had to get therein a hurry. And he took me East with him
for aweek to meet hisfamily. | never met anybody in hisfamily but wetook it up from
there and got along just fine. And | wasin New Y ork for one week. | had never been
East before so thiswas a big event in my life.

CD: How did you get there? Did you takethetrain?

DE: Wedrove.

CD: Youdrove?

DE: And | was getting very excited about seeing mountains because | had never seen a
mountain. And we drove through the Alleghenies at midnight so | didn’t see very much.
[laughter].

CD: You probably left herein the morning, afternoon and you hit Pennsylvania.
DE: Exactly. But anyhow, after aweek, he went off to his Arsenal and | got on the train
and went back to Urbana. And at one point | hit the music thing that | was going to be

cataloging. | don’t know exactly.

CD: Soyou wereworkingintheLibrary at thistime?
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DE: When | finished my Bachelors | was offered a halftime job in the catalog
department.

CD: Your Bachelor’sor your Master’s?
DE: Oh| think | got a Bachelor’s first?
CD: But you got that here or at Chicago?
DE: | got asecond Bachelor’s.

CD: Really?

DE: | think so.

CD: Ok.

DE: Because| think my diploma says Bachelor’s. Anyhow | was going to school
hal ftime and working halftime.

CD: InthelLibrary, cataloging?

DE: Cataloging inthe Library. And going to school whenever the classes for Master’s
candidates were offered.

CD: And that must have been convenient because...Was the cataloging department
intheLibrary?

DE: It certainly was. | just went upstairs.

CD: Just went upstairsto the Library School.

DE: And at that time they also gave me an occasional assignment of escorting music
students through the Library. Apparently nobody had ever done that before. Because
some of the books | opened their pages weren’t cut. [laughter]

CD: Now wasthat part of what you did in Cataloging was free those?

DE: Wédl, | wasaskedtodoit and | was glad to do it.

CD: What floor was Cataloging on? Do you remember ?

DE: | think it was on the second floor.

CD: Soit probably hasn’t moved since you wer e there?
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DE: Wéll, it could not be... It was avery big room.

CD: And doyou remember thereading room in theLibrary. Themain reading
room was that?

DE: | amtrying to recognize it, to visualize it.

CD: | should have brought pictures.

DE: Yeah| don’t think... I didn’t spend much time in that room.

CD: Ok.

DE: And | am trying to remember. | know there was something about the freshman
reading room that happened while | was still there. Where they moved it into the

underground and somehow | got involved in transferring books to one place to another. |
don’t know how that happened.

CD: Now did you have access? Did studentsin general to the stacksor?
DE: The Library School studentsdid. | don’t know if students, if othersdid.

CD: Other students. Describewhat it waslike goinginto the stacks. Do you
remember?

DE: Wéll, | made alot of use of the stacks because of my thesis.
CD: And what wasyour thesistopic?

DE: My thesistopic was music publishing in Chicago before the fire. The firm of Root
and Cady. Which turns out to have been historically the most important music publishing
house ever in the United States. And for the thesis | needed to consult newspapers from
the period, 1858 to 1871. With the fire these firms were all burned out and none of them
survived. But apparently my picking that topic was avery fortunate one for me because
people were getting very interested in what happened during the Civil War. And Chicago
became areal headquarters. Their songs were sold al over the country. Songs like the
Battle Cry of Freedom was published in Chicago and whereas normally a Master’s thesis,
| think, is of importance primarily to its author, this thesis actually got alot of attention
which | still am in a state of astonishment.

CD: Do you remember who your committee memberswere? Did you haveto have?
DE: Well Ann Boyd was my advisor.

CD: Your advisor.
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DE: | don’t remember the committee at all. But the story of that thesis even though it
goes outside of Urbanaisreally incredible for it was, yeah the war was still going on, |
think. And the Music Library Association had just been organized and they were putting
out a mimeograph book. So | wrote to the editor of the book, by thistime | wasin New
Jersey. And the author gave an appendix for my thesis that would be useful to public
libraries and he wrote back and said he wasn’t the editor any more and | should write to
John Windle at the Newberry Library. So | wrote to John Windle and he wrote back and
said he wasn’t the editor anymore. | should write to Richard S. Hill at the Library of
Congress. So | wroteto Richard S. Hill and he never answered my letter. While my
husband was being sent to the Pentagon on business, so, | said if you have time ook up
Sidney Kramer at the Library of Congress. He had met Sidney in Urbana, and see if he
knows this guy Hill and if so why didn’t he answer my letter? Well when Mort came
back he told me, “I was laughing on the train all the way from Washington to
Morristown” because yes, he knew Sidney well and he called Sidney and he kept saying,
“What, what, what, what?’ and finally he just exploded, “Why don’t you tell the girl?”
Hill had decided, | guess unknown to anybody else, he was going to convert this
mimeograph newsdletter into a scholarly journal and he needed articles so he borrowed my
thesis through interlibrary loan from the University of Illinois, read it, decided to publish
it and had never gotten around to telling me. He wasn’t doing anything illegal because
we became very good friends. And it did appear in Notesand | still have copiesof it. It
was published in volume three number one.

CD: Andthejournal titlewas...

DE: Notesfor the Music Library Association.

CD: Now Kramer wasoriginally on the Library staff here at Chicago? Wheredid
you meet Sidney Kramer?

DE: | met him in the neighborhood.

CD: Of HydePark?

DE: Of Hyde Park. He was not on the Library staff.
CD: Ok.

DE: Hewasin the Graduate Library School and he was writing his doctoral dissertation.
When | went off to Library School.

CD: And then hewound up in Urbana?

DE: In summer school, he was teaching there. | remember there’s a picture of the three
of usand it’s obvioudly in the middle of summer from the vegetation. | don’t know how
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long he stayed there because by the time my husband went to the Pentagon he was at the
Library of Congress and when he left the Library of Congress he started his bookstore.

CD: Ok.

DE: And when the war ended we moved to Washington because my husband had a job
at the National Bureau of Standards. And | got ajob at the Library of Congress because
there must not have been music librariansto hire if the people would hire me on the spot.

CD: Wereyou still cataloging or what were your tasks?

DE: In Newark | wasthe assistant art and music librarian in the public library which was
the third floor of the Newark Museum. And | did whatever needed to be done.

CD: What about at Library of Congress?

DE: Library of Congress| worked in the copyright cataloging division. Because the man
who was then chief of the music division did not want to hire women and | was asked not
to apply there because it would cause absolute consternation all over the division.

CD: Doyou remember his name?

DE: Harold Spivak. But Dick Hill asked me not to apply and | figured why should | get
myself in atangle like that? And the experience | had in the Copyright cataloging
division was well worth it. | worked for Virginia Cunningham who was a wonderful
person.

CD: And doyou remember theyearsyou wereat LC?

DE: Wedll, let’ssee. Thewar was over so...

CD: Thelatefortiesyou think or?

DE: | think probably the late forties, yeah. And | worked there until | was seven months
pregnant with my first child. And | decided | didn’t need to commute from Silver Spring,
Maryland to Washington.

CD: Sowhat year would that have been?

DE: About, golly. | haveall thisat home. | worked at the Library of Congress for about
two years.

CD: Ok.

DE: A littlelessthan two years. | think | became pregnant while | was working there.
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CD: And you said that you knew Don Krummel?

DE: From the music, | did volunteer work in the music division.

CD: After this?

DE: Or beforeit.

CD: Oh.

DE: Beforel got ajob and Don was working there at that time. And then later | knew
him of course when he was at the Newberry and | was working at the University of
Chicago.

CD: Now, let me seeif | can steer usback to Illinoisand figure out, let’stry and
pinpoint when you wer e there and talk alittle bit about what life waslike at Illinois.
What the campuswaslike. Sowe’rethinkingit wasjust prior to World War 11
becauseyou...

DE: World, before | married, yeah, it was prior to World War 1.

CD: Soit was probably *38to ’41 or °42?

DE: Asl recall there were very few black students.

CD: But dol havethetimeframeright?

DE: | think so.

CD: Ok.

DE: Yeah.

CD: What we’ve heard, | mean what the record shows, history shows usthat
college campuses wer e used for training purposes for the military and that Illinois
was a center for that. So the men who were on campus were mor e often than not in
the military.

DE: Wéll, the men | met, there was somein the Library School. And the others | met
were chemists. Because they were friends of my husband, the guy | married. | never
knew anybody in auniform.

CD: Sothat may have happened later, after the war had started.

DE: It could have, yeah.
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CD: Sowheredid you live when you were at 11linois?

DE: Thefirst year Miriam and | rented aroom from afamily on California Avenue.
CD: In Urbana?

DE: InUrbana. And | would walk to work. And it never occurred to me that you
needed transportation. | had walked to the University of Chicago campustoo. Then the
next year, Miriam finished what she was doing and went back to Chicago.

CD: Now wasshealsointheLibrary School?

DE: Yeah.

CD: Ok.

DE: And | rented an apartment with afriend of mine from college on the third floor of an
apartment building. 1t’swhere the Hall isnow. The big concert hall.

CD: Oh Krannert?

DE: Krannert! Yeah!

CD: TheKrannert...

DE: That used to bereal estate.

CD: Sure, of course.

DE: And | lived there! But | can’t remember the exact name of the street.

CD: Waéll, it probably doesn’t exist any mor e because that takes up such a huge
area.

DE: Yeah. Wéll, the street may lead to the Hall.

CD: LeadtotheHall. Sol think those streetsarelllinois, Iowa, and Oregon or
something like that.

DE: Y eah, that sounds reasonable.

CD: Metinthoseareas. Soyou wereclose, very closeto campus. Did much of
your social lifetake place on campus?

DE: When | wasin library school | didn’t have much socia life. Except through this
graduate guild because | had no money and | couldn’t afford, | remember if | ate lunch

Dena Epstein
3/14/2008

13 of 33



with friends then | couldn’t eat any dinner because | could only afford one meal a day.
And so when | got to be good friends with Mort he gave orders that | should eat on his
meal ticket because he was shocked when he realized how little money | had.

CD: Sohehad acard that allowed him to?

DE: He had, there was a restaurant across the street from the Chemistry Building named,
golly what wasiit called? It was alunch counter. But he had ameal ticket there that he
bought in advance and he gave instructions that they should punch his meal ticket for
anything | ate. Which was of course was a great blessing. [laughter] Hewas avery
generous guy!

CD: That’sgreat! And soyou would go to campusfirst thing in the morning and...

DE: Yeah, | don’t, | guess Cop Powell’s, does that make sense? The restaurant across
the street from the Chemistry Building.

CD: Ohthereisnorestaurant there anymore!

DE: [laughter] | livein the past.

CD: No, it’s Powell’s.

DE: That soundsright.

CD: It’s Powell’slunch counter.

DE: Yeah.

CD: Yes.

DE: And | would, I might have breakfast there which would probably a bowl of cereal
and a cup of coffee. And lunch, there were cafeterias on campus in the Union Building.
And there was alibrary in the Union Building so | think we got special treatment because
we would help man the staff there.

CD: How interesting.

DE: Yeah, the Union Building at that time was a good place to do all kinds of things.
CD: Andthelibrary wasalending library or areferencelibrary?

DE: | think it wasalending library, yeah. There probably were reference books there.

CD: Right.
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DE: And| sang in achorusthe first quarter | was there but the conductor was really
inadequate and | was used to better conductors at the University of Chicago. So | didn’t
continue.

CD: Now, what do you remember about students on campus? You started to say
that weren’t many African American studentson campus. What about somethe
ratio of women to men and various...

DE: | have no idea.

CD: Youdidn’t really...

DE: Didn’t pay much attention. | spent most of my time in the library.

CD: Did you work with studentsin thelibrary? Or no because of cataloging?

DE: | don’t think | ever worked on a charging desk. Mary LoisBull at that timewasin
the library office and | remember going to her for assignments.

CD: Cool! Interesting.

DE: And it wasafairly demanding program so that it took most of my time.
CD: Didit?

DE: Yeah.

CD: How did it work? Because you know we have computers, computer labs, and
in cataloging we ar e actually on computersusing...

DE: There were no computersthere. Infact, after | came back to Urbana and was
finishing my degree my husband was sent by the Army to Urbanato see the first
computer ever installed, which filled two floors. And | remember that because he stayed
with me. | wasliving in afaculty house at that time and they said, “If we were married,
fine” [Laughter] But otherwise | never saw a computer. Andin 1950 | went to a
Gordon conference with my husband up in New Hampshire and at that time he was
learning how to run a computer.

CD: And what’sa Gordon conference?
DE: A scientific conference.

CD: Ok.
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DE: Apparently they are very hard, | didn’t go to any of the sessions | just went for the
ride, so to speak. But apparently they are highly respected conferences. And at that time
| think he was working for the Colgate Palmolive Company.

START OF TAPE I, SIDE B

CD: Now going back to Library School, so did you get, you did get experience
wor king because you actually worked in the cataloging department classes...

DE: The people in my classes when | was working for my Bachelor’s were largely
interested in working in public libraries. And they were primarily interested in the
problems that public libraries are concerned with. | was much more interested in an
academic library. And | would directly assign myself in that direction. So | didn’t spend
alot of time with them. | remember there were three Black girlsin the Library School at
that time. And they were flunked out as | recall. Now maybe one of them wasn’t. |
can’t remember all the details.

CD: Wadll, you are going haveto cluemein. What does flunked out?

DE: Flunked out.

CD: Flunked out, ok.

DE: Meansthey failed and | was outraged. | felt if they were admitted they should have
been given special help. But that’slifein the forties

CD: Did you say anything to anyone?
DE: | can’t remember.
CD: Yeah.

DE: | remember in the ladies room talking to one of the girls and expressing my feelings
on the subject and she just shrugged, she didn’t really...

CD: Really? Doyou remember wherethey werefrom, what part of the country
they werefrom?

DE: No.
CD: Werethey Chicagoanstoo?
DE: No, | don’t think so.

CD: $o, did you have an impression of the academic librarians, the university
librarians?
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DE: No, | didn’t. 1 know that some of the librarians, some of the instructorsin the
Library School said that there had been complaints that the curriculum wasn’t up to date
and they felt this was unnecessary and unfair. | had no complaints about the program.
But then | wasn’t planning to do things that some of these others did. | have never
administered alibrary in my whole life. I’ve been president of the Music Library
Association but | have never been in charge of an administration. All the years| worked
at Chicago | was aways an assistant.

CD: And wereyou in cataloging?
DE: At Chicago? No, | was music reference.
CD: Musicreference, ok.

DE: But | wasthe assistant music librarian. | did alot of cataloging at Chicago but not
in the catalog department.

CD: And sincethe purpose of thisinterview isto talk about Illinois pre World War
Il the sense of the campus, do you have any other memories of what campuslife was
likein general?

DE: Therewere political clubson campus. | don’t know whether they were officially
recognized but they were interested in politics and | was interested in things like that. So
| got to know the people and they were the rebellious types. So, the campus was not just
peaches and cream all the time.

CD: Weretheredemonstrationsor werethere more gatheringsto discussthe
politics of the day?

DE: | think more gatherings.

CD: And how did people get their news? How, if you wer e talking about what was
happening in theworld, how did people...

DE: | think the newspapers, television barely existed at that time and radio did exist but
people didn’t rely on it for their news. 1’m trying to think of an example.

CD: Did you have morethan just the local newspapers and the Daily I1lini?
DE: Ohyeah. Atthelibrary.
CD: Atthelibrary. So studentswould usethe periodicalsroom at thelibrary.

DE: Yeah. Now when | was an undergraduate at the University of Chicago there were
practically uprisings.
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CD: Around what kinds of issues, do you remember ?

DE: Golly I’'mtrying. The Walgreen’s granddaughter was a student and apparently she
reported things that he didn’t approve of and the state legislature was investigating the
University of Chicago campus. So that got the whole place upset. Chicago was quite an
exciting place at that time. Illinois was much more temperate. | think their work with
people on campus including faculty members that felt things could be changed but it
wasn’t as exciting as it had been at Chicago.

CD: Wasit avery diverse campus, do you remember ?

DE: Ohyeah. And one thing, through my husband | got to met severa faculty peoplein
the math department who were friends of his. And they were very niceto me. They
invited me to dinner and after he left they sort of looked after me. So | had a good time at
Urbana even though at first | felt out of place because | was used to big cities.

CD: Surebecause your world was shrunk.

DE: That’sright. But inretrospect | think the training | got there was just what | needed.
That it prepared me for a great variety of situations and jobs and that’s what | faced in the
future.

CD: Do you remember anything about frater nities and sororities?

DE: | know they existed but | didn’t know anybody who was involved in them.

CD: Andyou didn’t have a sense of their presence in theworld that you operated in
at 1linois?

DE: No. | first became aware of them when | went for along walk along the street

where there were alot of fraternity houses. Up until that point | didn’t know they existed.

CD: That’sinteresting. And what about sporting eventsat Illinois? Because what
I’ve heard isthat during the war they were, for instance | spokewith a women
about a month ago who was the managing editor of the Daily Illini in the mid
forties, °43, °44.

DE: By that timel was gone.

CD: Right, but | wonder when thisstarted to happen. At that timethelllini, the
Daily Illini editorial board was all women.

DE: | didn’t know that.
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CD: Becausetherewereno men. Thereweren’t that many men on campus and this
group of four women decided to function as a collectivein terms of their decision
making instead of a managing editor.

DE: Well, thiswould have been when everybody was off in the Army.

CD: Right. Sowhat Millicent Lane said wasthat she had a very strong sense of
there being thiskind of absence of men and the presence of them wasonly as
servicemen.

DE: By that timel waslong gone.

CD: Longgone. But you weretherefor the sporting events, do you remember the
ever controversial Chief 1lliniwek?

DE: Weéll, he was around then but | don’t remember ever going to afootball game. For
onething I couldn’t afford it.

CD: Really?

DE: For another thing | wasn’t that interested. And the one time | was on the football
field was when my husband decided to teach me to drive. That was the place were he felt
it was safe. [laughter]

CD: Soyou wereabletotakea car out onto the football field?

DE: Yes. Well, at least that’s my recollection, now maybe I’m full of beans.

CD: Wdlit’sagreat oneeven if it isn’t true. What aterrific pictureit presents.
And did you learn how to drive.

DE: Not then, no. I finaly learned how to drive from aformal teacher when | wanted to
take my children to nursery school and there was no nursery school in the town where we
wereliving. | had to go to the next town in New Jersey. So | learned how to drive and |
drove until I came back to Chicago in 1963. When | saw thetraffic in Chicago, |
decided thisis not for me. And we were in agreement; we didn’t want to have two cars.

CD: Didyou livein Hyde Park?

DE: We bought, my husband bought a house in Kenwood which was subject to my
approval. | was still in New Jersey because | had to handle the move and bring the kids
back from camp and all that kind of stuff.

[background noise]

CD: (I am goingto pausethisfor a sec.)
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DE: (I guessthey are choring)
[mumbled background noises|

CD: (I have no idea how to pausethisone so I’ll just keep it running so while thisis
off let me think about something here.) So it soundslike your world at Illinoiswas
very focused in a way because of the demands of the program.

DE: My need to get the most of it because of my lack of money.

CD: Right, right. (So ok, let’sstart thisagain. It’sstarting.) Let’s, aslong aswe
aretalking let’stalk about the post War and lifein Chicago. You talked about
buying a housein Kenwood.

DE: Wéll, lifein Chicago...that wasin 1963.
CD: Ok.

DE: Andthere’salot of history about that house. My husband tried to get a mortgage
from abank downtown. We had plenty of cash because he had just sold a house and he
was told we could not have a mortgage. We were awhite family that shouldn’t be buying
that house and would we go elsewhere. And he was furious. He wanted to sue them.

But our lawyer said, “don’t be a mess, go to the Hyde Park bank, take out the existing
mortgage on the house and forget the downtown banks.” So that was episode number
one.

CD: And you were buying in this neighborhood because he was at the Univer sity of
Chicago?

DE: No. Henever worked for the University in Chicago. We’re an atypical family. He
was working for the Chicago Board of Health. He had decided that he wanted to convert
from physical chemistry to clinical chemistry. And he went to Northwestern and got
training even though he could have been grandfathered in and hel ped organize a new
organization that would not accept salesmen as members. Y ou had to be a professional
chemist. And he was very happy with that. Thiswas the kind of thing he enjoyed doing.
He never worked for the University although we lived in the University neighborhood for
about twenty two years, more than that.

CD: And thinking about Hyde Park, a question occursto me because we have the
greatest book storein theworld here, the Seminary Coop Bookstore. But were
there bookstoresin Urbana, Champaign?

DE: There were then and one of the bookstores that is there now was built and organized
by awomen from Hyde Park who was a friend of my sisters. I’m trying to remember the
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name of it and | can’t. | actually bought some books there when we were down in
Urbanafor avisit.

CD: Wasit a used bookstore or wasit Folletts?

DE: It wasn’t Folletts.

CD: Wasit Jane Adams?

DE: No. It maybe Jane Adams, now that | am not sure of.

CD: It’sin downtown Champaign?

DE: Yeah.

CD: Ok. Sotherewerebookstores...

DE: Ohyeah. You could buy books. You could...

CD: Weretherebars. Now therejust barsall theway up and down Green street.

DE: Now there were occasional bars and there was a restaurant that had various branches.
| am trying to remember the name. It was an Italian name.

CD: Cooal.
DE: And that was a nice place to eat.

CD: Did students spend timein bars, do you know, wasit a big thing? Was
drinking a big thing?

DE: [laughter] 1 kind of doubt it then but | don’t really know because | didn’t hang out
there. Therewere |lots of stores on the street. ..

CD: Probably Green Street.

DE: Green Street, yeah.

CD: And littlegrocery stores?

DE: Oh, yes.

CD: Sothat you could just purchase somefood instead of prepared food.

DE: Sure, sure. Thelllinois Central Railroad ran trains regularly between Chicago and
Champaign

Dena Epstein
3/14/2008

21 of 33



CD: And did you commute much, did you...

DE: Wéll, after | met Mort he would drive me to Chicago for the weekend. He and my
mother got along very well. And he was New Y orker so Champaign was kind of tame
for him. So | came to Chicago usualy by car but | also went by train several times.

CD: And how frequently did you come back to Chicago while you were down there.
DE: Weéll, you see | was doing research for my thesisin Chicago librariestoo. | used
newspapers in Champaign and city directories but music itself wasn’t abig thing there.
So | would come to Chicago for whole weeks at times just to do research.

CD: That’samazing asa Master’sstudent. That’sgreat. And of course you had a
placeto stay here so that worked out well. And alittleinfusion of culture whileyou
were here. Oneother question | wasthinking of, a sense of the cities of Champaign
Urbana. Did you have any?

DE: At that time, while there was a bar in Urbana where the graduate guild met and that
was thefirst timel wasin abar in Urbana. And at that time the mayor of Urbanawas a
math professor. [laughter] And | don’t think the mayor of Champaign was ever
connected with the University but maybe hewas | just didn’t know.

CD: Do you remember what the guild talked about? What was a guild meeting like?
DE: | didn’t go to that many. 1I’m trying to remember, golly. 1t’s so long ago.

CD: And did you plan eventsor wasit really more of a discussion?

DE: | realy wasn’t on theinner circle. Mort was.

[background noise]

DE: (I guessthereisgoing to be an exercise class)

CD: (Oh ok. Wdll, I’ve kept you for morethan an hour.)

DE: Now there are things upstairs that may betotally irrelevant. But, for example, | do
have the published versions of my Master’s thesis both in installments and in book form.

CD: And wasthis published by the University of I1linois Press? No, thiswasthe
Library of Congress, thefellow at the Library of Congress.

DE: Library of Congress did the journals.

CD: Right.
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DE: And the book edition was published by Harmony Park Pressin Detroit. | had
proposed the appendix that was still unpublished and their editorial advisor told them to
publish the whole thing. So they did. | hadn’t even suggested that. Incredible!

CD: Wadll, it’sclearly an indication of how important it was, what an important
contribution it was.

DE: And | do have copies of both the books the University of Illinois Press has
published.

CD: Weshould have those, certainly we havethem in the library and we might
even havethem in the Archives. Part of our chargeisto keep those.

DE: | am sureyou do. Yeah you may. Well, one of them is the history of Black folk
music up until the Civil War. And the other is my mother’s memoirs. It’s abook about
an immigrant at Hull House and it’s the only book of that kind ever written because the
ladies in that neighborhood didn’t read and write. So that is historically really important.
| didn’t appreciate it at the time. She could never get a publisher while she was alive.
There was no interest in immigrant women at that time. Thiswasin thefifties. So after |
retired from the University, the one thing | thought | really should do is seeif | could get
it published because it was a big disappointment to her. And | got very interested in it
and it turned out to be areally demand book because there is no book about Hull House
written by awomen from the neighborhood.

CD: Wadll, I am going to look for them when | get back. Now both have your name
on them?

DE: Ohyes.
CD: Ok.
DE: My mother’s name comes first on her book and then 1’m the editor.

CD: Ok. You think I’ve been through library school | should be ableto track it
down. | won’t tell anyoneif | can’t. Well, isthere anything else you want to sort of?

DE: Weéll, there are a couple of things that may be of interest to the University. | don’t
know. I’ve had several honors. The Society for American Music gave me a, what do
they call it? A lifetime achievement award. And my husband for our fiftieth wedding
anniversary established afund in the Music Library Association to give grants to people
doing research.

CD: Ohthat’sgreat.

DE: So my nameis still around.
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CD: Excdllent.

DE: Eventhough I’ve been retired along time and 1’m not, right now | am not trying to
do any research at all. | feel at my age and my circumstancesit’s not appriopriate.

CD: Wereyou amember, an activein ALA?

DE: I joined ALA in1926. [laughter] 1’ve been a member for sixty years and in fact
one of the reasons that Rachel got interested in library schools because | keep giving her
my old issues. | still am anon paying dues member because |’ve been a member for
sixty years. And just last year for thefirst timein history ALA had an issue of American
Libraries devoted to music libraries.

CD: That’samazingthat it wasthefirst one!
DE: Yeah.

CD: That’sreally amazing. And what do you think, thisiskind of an aside, but
what do you think the value of a professional organization like ALA is? Did you
notice, why did you stay a member of ALA for sixty years?

DE: I’ll tell you one good reason. When | was president of MLA | was still working at
the University of Chicago and | got a telephone call from a man in the publishing office
at ALA. They needed someone to review a book, could I recommend somebody. So |
recommended somebody and then | said, “Would you be willing to give me some advice,
| have areal problem in the Music Library Association. A lot of public librarians want to
provide bibliographic information for small collections and they’ve drawn up information
and the people who come to our meetings aren’t interested. They don’t look at it.” And
he said, “Let methink, | think you should provide the information and we should do the
distribution.” | said, “Perfect.” And | thought to myself...

CD: Becauseit hasa much broader reach.

DE: Much broader reach and the people from small libraries come to their meetings.
They don’t come to the Music Library Association meeting. And when | saw the last
ALA catalog, it’s now in itsfifth edition, Music Library Association is providing all the
information and ALA is doing the distribution.

CD: Terrific.

DE: And | think that justifies sixty years of membership.

CD: That’sgreat. That’sagreat story to end on. Well thank you very much.

DE: Wéll, this has been a great pleasure.
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CD: Pleasurewasall mine.

START OF TAPE TWO SIDE A PART |

(interview moves upstairs to Mrs. Epstein’s apartment)
CD: Sothereason you chose black music was...

DE: Yeahwell, | was looking for something to do research on. | had two small children
at home...

CD: Sothismust have been when you werein D.C?

DE: No, no. We had moved to Jersey.

CD: ToJersey, ok.

DE: My husband left the Bureau of Standards and went to work for the Colgate
Palmolive Company. And | went to the New Y ork Public Library hoping to find
something about the man who wrote the song, “Lorena.” Which was the most popular
song in the Confederacy but it was published in Chicago. [laughter] And | told this story
to somebody just last week and he started singing “Lorena.” [laughter]

CD: Really?

DE: Wéll, it became obvious that there is no information about this gentleman. So | was
carrying the book back to the charging desk and it fell open in my hands and | recognized
aname, William Francis Allen, was the man who was a senior editor of afirst collection
of spirituals ever published. He was a historian. He wasn’t amusician but he was awell-
trained amateur musician. And | got interested in this collection. 1t was completely

ignored at that time. 1t hadn’t been, it was published in 1867, got bad reviews because at
that time people didn’t think that you should pay serious attention to spirituals.

CD: Because? Black spiritualsor...

DE: Black spirituals.

CD: Black spirituals, ok.

DE: Because the way they were perfomed was very difficult to follow.
CD: Werethey performed as groupsin, what would it be a choir?

DE: Beforethe Civil War, virtually no people who lived outside the South heard Black
music. The minstrel shows were performing but they weren’t doing folk music they were
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doing their own stuff. And this collection from 1867 had been totally ignored except it
had been attacked.

CD: Attacked at thetimeit came out?

DE: When it came out, yes, and | have reviews quoted in my book. They’re incredible!
And there was an Austrian musicologist who was living in London who wrote a book
about Black music. He’d never been to Africa. He had never been to the United States.
He’d never heard the music. Hejust saw what was in abook he had. And he was
convinced the music was utterly worthless. Well, you know that’s the kind of stuff that
raised my hairs standing strait up. Anyhow, | didn’t know that | was qualified to do this
but | thought nobody else is paying any attention, | might aswell. So | decided to see
what | could do. | took along time but | found enough stuff so that | had a full length
book about it. Going up to the Civil War, not afterward because people began to realize
this book is very important. | tried, for the first time in the history of the United States
trained historians were being sent to the Sea Islands off the coast of North Carolina. And
there was a very large Black population there and they could just listen to what was going
on around them.

CD: Arethesethe, what arethose songscalled? Thegull...
DE: Gullah istheir speech.

CD: Isther speech. Isn’t thereaterm for the songsthat they sing too, or am |
confusing thiswith something else?

DE: | don’t know off hand.

CD: And therewere plantations on the Sea | lands?
DE: A lot of them.

CD: Ok.

DE: And there was amuch larger Black population than white population. Most of the
whites had fled to the mainland. And the people, it happened that some of the people
who went to the Sea | lands were sensitive to music and they were just bowled over by
what they heard. And they tried to reduce it to notation which was very difficult because
these songs are not strait forward do re mi. So | got absolutely fascinated by this.

CD: And when werethesevisits? Thesefirst visitsto the Sea | dlands?

DE: In 1862-63. Thefirst time, the first words that were ever published from a Negro
spiritual were published in aNew Y ork newspaper in 1862 and he didn’t even try to do
the music. While Lucy McKim Garrison was nineteen years old, she wasn’t Garrison
then shewas just Lucy McKim and her father was being sent to the Sea Islands to see
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what supplies they needed. He was an abolitionist from Philadelphia. Heinvited her to
come with him as his secretary. And she just was bowled over by the music she heard.
Her letters are so fascinating!

CD: Wherearethey held?
DE: Smith College.
CD: Smith.

DE: | never in amillion years would have thought of Smith. She didn’t go to school
there. But after five years of correspondence with the widow of one of Lucy’s sons who
had remarried and her name was now Mrs. Chubb. [Laughter] She suggested | write to
Eleanor Garrison in Santa Barbara, California. And Eleanor’s mother was the niece of
Lucretia Mott and her mother had helped Lucretia organize the first women’s rights
meeting in 1848. Well, when thislady, Lucretia’s niece, moved to Californiain the
twenties she took with her afreight car full of family papers. And her daughter and son
were going through them just when my letter arrived. And they were so thrilled that
somebody was interested in their papers they not only wrote to me and sent me
manuscripts but they instructed the people at Smith to send the whole collection to me.
And | had to say don’t do that! [laughter] But it wasjust the most marvelous collection.
| made three trips to NorthHampton just to read letters.

CD: Oh that’sawonderful story too about how we learn about archival collections.

DE: That’sright! And | wastold by Mrs. Chub, | was the first person who had ever
asked about awoman in the Garrison family. Well, the men’s | etters are at Harvard but
the women’s letters and a lot of the men’s |etters are all at Smith.

CD: At Smith. And did you ever figure out why they’reat Smith?
DE: | think Eleanor Garrison, the women who wrote to me, must have gone there.
CD: Oh must have gonethere.

DE: | never asked her but | did get to meet her. She cameto visit Mrs. Chubb and they
invited meto lunch. And at that time Mrs. Chubb was not living in the house but till
owned the house that had belonged to the McKims right after the Civil War. Lucy
McKim married Wendell Garrison, who was Garrison’s third son.

CD: Ok.

DE: And hisfriend and associate from the beginning of the abolitionist movement was
Lucy’sfather. So thishouse wasjust atreasure trove. Mrs. Chub had decided to give the
collection of material that was appropriate to Smith. And she asked me to help them sort
it. 1t was such aglorious experience! [Laughter]
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CD: Oh it soundswonderful! And the housewasin...

DE: Menlo Park, New Jersey. That’swhere the Edison Museum isand | don’t know
who else lived there but the McKims moved there right after the Civil War. And Lucy
lived there al her life. Shedied at the age of 34 leaving three children behind.

CD: Oye.

DE: And the third editor was Charles Ware who was a Harvard graduate.

CD: WARE?

DE: Right.

CD: Ok.

DE: His granddaughter is a historian and she was simply delighted to help me. [laughter]
CD: What afantastic story.

DE: Wdll, | redly, you know, if | have trouble going to sleep at night | just think about it.
[laughter] And yet you know these people didn’t know me. | didn’t have any reputation

but they were so thrilled that somebody was going to tell the truth about this music!

CD: Ohthatissoterrific. Now did you have any involvement with the WPA
programs?

DE: My mother did. | wasin student programs but | was too young.
CD: I didn’t know there was student programsfor...

DE: National Youth Administration was a student program. They gave me money when
| was Library School and | don’t know if they gave me when | was at the University
because | had a scholarship. But thisis a story about Library School so maybe | should
bend your ear again.

CD: Oh I°d loveit!

DE: | had ajob when | wasin Library School before | got the cataloging job. | worked
in the bindery preparing journals for binding. And the women who supervised that
department was Josie Hochins who was a wonderful woman. Well, one day | got aletter
from my brother who had been sending me twenty dollars a month out of hissalary. He
lost hisjob, he couldn’t send me anymore money but | was scheduled to work the next
day so | went to work. And Mrs. Hochins kept coming out of the office... the door of her
office and staring at me and | wondered, “Did | forget to comb my hair?’ Finaly she
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came over and said, “Please come into my office” she said, “I can see somethingis
bothering you, please tell mewhat it is.” So | told her. And she said, “Fortunately | am
chairman of the Library School development fund, I’ll have a check for you on Monday
morning don’t let this spoil your weekend.”

CD: I lovelibrarians!

DE: Weéll, about thirty years later | was back in Urbana giving alecture and she was still
there. | looked her up in the telephone directory and | was able to thank her again.

CD: That’sanother terrific story. But your mother worked with WPA?

DE: My mother worked, in fact in my mother’s book is alist of what she wrote for the
WPA. While | was editing her manuscript | also had to document it because the
University of Illinois Press had rejected it once. See, and if you go way inthe back isa
list of what she wrote for the WPA. [muffled noises| (now whereisthe WPA)

CD: (Hereand heretoo.)

DE: (Yeah.)

CD: Soshort plays? Shewrote plays?

DE: Yeah. Shewrote plays. Shewrote all kinds of stuff.

CD: And theseare... Oh shedid somelife histories as well?

DE: Um hmm.

CD: Thefolkloreproject. And thissaysin container A866, where?

DE: AttheLibrary of Congress.

CD: At LC, huh.

DE: Andthereisalso stuff at the lllinois State Library. Thisisit. Theseare at the
[llinois State Library.

CD: Oh| see, yes.

DE: These arein the manuscript division Library of Congress. Part of the folklore
project WPA federal writer’s project.

CD: How interesting! | mean | supposel’m not thinking of this carefully but to
again that women wer e involved with the WPA projects...
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DE: Now | am surethere will be a copy of this...

CD: Yesand let mejust say that thisis, | Came a Stranger the Story of the Hull
House Girl by Hilda Scott Polacheck.

DE: Satt

CD: Satt!

DE: She came from Poland in 1892.

CD: Satt Polacheck and edited by Dena Eptsein. Now who’sLynn Weiner?
DE: Sheteaches at Roosevelt University.

CD: Oh ok.

DE: Sheworked in the field of women’s studies.
CD: Oh terrific!

DE: AndthisisHilda’s picture as ayoung girl.
CD: And isthisMaxwell Street or?

DE: ThisisMaxwell Street.

CD: Initsheyday.

DE: Yep! [laughter]

CD: Not anymore.

DE: No, | ansure. There are some pictures. Thisisthe..probably lived in a house very
much like this. Thisisaschool, the Jewish training school she went to.

CD: And thiswasin Milwaukee, thisisin Chicago!

DE: Thiswasin Chicago, yeah.

CD: Sothe Jewish training school wasit on the Westside?
DE: Right.

CD: Ok.
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DE: It was supported by German Jews who wanted to help people who were just coming
into the country to learn English. And thisisa picture of Hilda at a craft demonstration
and the last time | was at Hull House it still in the living room. And of course you
recognize who that is.

CD: Yes. Thisisterrific. Therearepicturesof...

DE: Thisisthe play that Hildawrote or is a dramatization of a novel by a Hull House
resident and she did it at the request of the women in charge of the Hull House theatre.
And it was preformed at the Hull House theatre.

CD: And what, wherewas Hull House at thistime? Wasit where University of
[llinois, Chicago is?

DE: Right!

CD: | know... So that house was not moved and put into that area. It wasright in
that area.

DE: No, noitwasright in that area. It was never moved at all. But Hull House at one
time had thirteen buildings and now it just has this one house.

CD: That onehouse. And so did peopletravel from the Westside to Maxwell Street
to shop?

DE: Well, Maxwell Street was practically in their backyard!

CD: Wél | am thinking of the Westside around Humboldt Park.

DE: Oh, well then they did travel, yes.

CD: Ok.

DE: In fact my nephews who now live in Austin, Texas when they came to Chicago the
first thing they did was plan atrip to Maxwell Street and this would have been maybe
thirty years ago.

CD: When it was still alive.

CD: Yeah.

CD: Wél thisisgreat. Thank you so much again!

START OF TAPE 2 SIDEA I

DE: Noit’snotin here, it’sin here.
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CD: Ok.
DE: Thisisthefirst edition. Thisisthe first book edition and then there were issues....
CD: Thecopies, ok. Sothisiswhat he published, the fellow, Hill was his name?

DE: Yes. Richard S. Hill. And he was the head of the reference section at the Library of
Congressfor avery long time. | can’t remember.

CD: We’relooking at the Music Publishing in Chicago before 1871, the Firm of
Root and Cady you said.

DE: Cady.
CD: Kady.

DE: And Cady wasthe first president of Hyde Park and George Frederick Root who else
wrote songs for Root and Cady. Oh hereitis.

CD: Thisisthefirst article.
[mumbled noises]

DE: George Frederick, not Root, Henry Ka... I’ve forgotten hislast name now. Not
only built his own house but it is still standing on Fifty Second Street.

CD: Really?

DE: And he was the town clerk of Hyde Park. He wrote Grandfather’s Clock and alot
of songs that were sung all over the country.

CD: Thisisso much too about the profession of librarianship and how serendipity
really plays, when you come acr oss something that you think, “oh my goodness
people need to know about this!”

DE: Absolutely, absolutely. | don’t know how it happens today because there’s alot
more sharing of information...

CD: Wéll,and | guess| could say | don’t know how it happenstoday too because
[llinoisisidiosyncratic. | mean our collection ishugeand | guesstherewas a period
of time where we wer e acquiring and not processing as quickly aswe acquired.

DE: Oh?
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CD: Sofor instancethe Rare Book and Manuscripts Library with thisnew
librarian who’s been therefor three or four years. When shearrived she got a huge
Mellon Grant to catalog the backlog which included boxesthat had never been
opened.

DE: Oh for goodness sake!

CD: Booksthat were purchased from the 1950s and such that were never opened.
And then the casein thelibrary as awhole aswe get a number of gifts of collections
and there are spread out across campus. And | worked with a woman last summer
who found theatre programs and theatre bills and theatr e programs collections and
they’re not photographs but drawings of actorsfrom the nineteenth century. And
shefound it and said, “this needsto be processed so people, researcherscan useit.”

DE: Of course!
CD: Sothat’sone of thethrillsat Illinoisstill. You are discovering things.
DE: Well | remember going down into the basement to read the Chicago Tribune from

the 1850s or ‘60s | guess and it was really exciting just to be handling it. But that was the
only way | could find out what was going on with this firm.

CD: Didyou havetorequest it from thelibrarian or wasit out?
DE: AsI| remember it wasit was out.
CD: That’samazing. Well now it’sall microfilm and computer screnes.

DE: It surewasn’t then.
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